




  
  

 

 

 

February 9, 2022 

 

 

The Honorable Alejandro Mayorkas 

Secretary of Homeland Security 

245 Murray Lane SW 

Washington, DC 20528 

 

The Honorable Martin J. Walsh 

Secretary of Labor 

200 Constitution Avenue NW 

Washington, DC 20210 

 

Dear Secretary Mayorkas and Secretary Walsh: 

 

We write on behalf of seasonal businesses in Michigan to urge the prompt release of the maximum number of 

additional H-2B visas authorized by Congress for FY 2022. Your full implementation of this authority is needed 

to meet the requirements of Michigan seasonal employers that rely on the H-2B visa program to supplement 

their U.S. workforce during the summer season. 

 

Many of these businesses are closed during the winter, and despite extraordinary efforts to meet their seasonal 

needs with only U.S. workers, these businesses are unable to fully staff without some foreign guest workers. 

One key example is the hospitality industry on Mackinac Island, a pillar of the regional economy. During the 

2021 season, one Mackinac Island hotel had a pool of 150 potential U.S. workers, of whom 36 completed the 

application process and were hired; only 9 of them came to the Island to work. There is a dire shortage of 

seasonal labor in the U.S. and many Michigan employers must turn to the H-2B program to meet their 

workforce needs to sustain their businesses and retain their American workers. The 2021 season on Mackinac 

Island was the worst ever for staffing shortages. Pent up demand from previous COVID-19 restrictions resulted 

in a record number of tourists desiring to visit the Island. Many of these visitors could not be accommodated 

because of an insufficient number of H-2B workers. Hotels operated at limited occupancy, some restaurants 

didn’t open at all or had limited hours and occupancy, and shops struggled from too few workers. Lost revenue 

for one hotel was more than $600,000 during the July 4th weekend alone.  

 

As you know, businesses can only hire H-2B workers upon certification by the Department of Labor (DOL) that 

there is no U.S. worker ready, willing, and able to fill the position. American employers are in urgent need of 

these workers, as evidenced by the DOL certifications approved so far in FY 2022. As of October 2, 2021, DOL 

had certified 49,526 workers, 16,526 more than the 33,000 statutory cap for the first half of the fiscal year. In 

addition, there are still almost 4,000 requested worker positions awaiting certification by DOL. This does not 

even take into account the applications that will be filed later in the fiscal year. In December 2021, DHS 

announced plans to release an additional 20,000 visas for the first half of FY 2022. Based upon DOL’s 

certification data this fiscal year, there is clearly an urgent need for additional H-2B visas in this fiscal year.   

 



These additional visas are critical, especially considering the Office of Foreign Labor Certification (OFLC) 

announcement that within the first 24 hours of opening the Foreign Labor Application Gateway System for peak 

filing season on January 1, 2022, employers filed 7,875 applications for more than 136,555 worker positions 

with an April 1, 2022, or later, work start date. The “Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021,” as 

extended by the “Further Extending Government Funding Act, 2021,” grants the Secretary of Homeland 

Security, in consultation with the Secretary of Labor, the authority to release additional H-2B visas up to the 

highest number of returning workers who participated in the program during a single fiscal year that the 

returning worker program was authorized. The highest number of H-2B returning workers approved in the 

program’s history was 64,716 in FY 2007. American businesses in Michigan urgently need the additional 

44,716 visas to support their U.S. workforce as we recover from the economic fallout of the COVID-19 

pandemic. We urge you to act swiftly and announce a determination to release all of the additional visas 

authorized. To that end, we respectfully request the administration promptly issue a temporary final rule (TFR) 

in a similar manner to what was done in May 2021. 

 

Lastly, putting in place a predictable process for the administration to utilize its Congressional authority to 

release supplemental H-2B visas should be a priority. As seasonal businesses face tremendous labor shortages 

across the nation, the prompt release of additional H-2B visas is extremely important. The release of 

supplemental H-2B visas should provide certainty that employers can have these workers available as close to 

the date of need as possible. While we appreciated the release of H-2B supplemental visas on May 25, 2021, the 

number of visas released was inadequate, and most of these workers did not start working until late in the 

season. We want to work with you to improve this process. 

 

Thank you for your consideration of this important matter. We look forward to your response and stand by to 

assist your efforts. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

  

   

 

Jack Bergman     Tim Walberg  

Member of Congress    Member of Congress 

 

 

 

 

Fred Upton     Bill Huizenga  

Member of Congress    Member of Congress 

 

 

 

 

Elissa Slotkin     Peter Meijer  

Member of Congress    Member of Congress 

 

 

 

 

John R. Moolenaar    Lisa McClain  

Member of Congress    Member of Congress    

































 

 
U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services 

Office of the Director (MS 2000) 

Camp Springs, MD  20588-0009 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 4, 2022 

 

 

The Honorable Elissa Slotkin 

U.S. House of Representatives 

Washington, DC  20515 

 

Dear Representative Slotkin: 

 

 Thank you for your September 19, 2022 letter to the U.S. Department of Homeland 

Security.  Secretary Mayorkas asked that I respond on his behalf, and I apologize for the delay in 

my response. 

 

DHS recognizes the labor challenges facing Michigan’s businesses and appreciates the 

importance of the H-2B program in addressing those challenges.  When Congress has given DHS 

its time-limited authority to increase the H-2B cap beyond the annual numerical limitation set 

forth in section 214 of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), DHS has worked 

expeditiously, in consultation with the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) in each instance, to 

exercise this statutory authority.    

 

As your letter notes, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) has already, as 

of September 12, received enough petitions to reach the congressionally mandated cap on H-2B 

visas for the first half of fiscal year (FY) 2023.  However, since your letter, Congress again 

authorized DHS to increase the H-2B cap in the Continuing Appropriations and Ukraine 

Supplemental Appropriations Act, 2023 (Public Law 117-180).  On October 12, 2022, DHS and 

DOL jointly announced the forthcoming publication of a temporary final rule to make available 

an additional 64,716 H-2B visas for the remainder of the 2023 fiscal year.1  In addition to 

meeting the needs of U.S. employers, DHS and DOL announced their ongoing commitment to 

ensuring protections for both H-2B and U.S. workers, most notably with the creation of a task 

force aimed at safeguarding the integrity of the H-2A and H-2B programs.  

  

Further, DHS plans to issue a notice of proposed rulemaking that will modernize and 

reform the H-2A and H-2B nonimmigrant worker programs.  DHS will propose, among other 

things, policies that increase program efficiencies and build upon existing worker 

protections.  DHS welcomes your valuable suggestions and will consider the options you 

provided for improving the current H-2B program.   

 

 
1 https://www.uscis.gov/newsroom/news-releases/dhs-to-supplement-h-2b-cap-with-nearly-65000-additional-visas-

for-fiscal-year-2023 
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Thank you again for your letter and interest in this important issue.  Should you require 

any additional assistance, please have your staff contact the USCIS Office of Legislative Affairs 

at (240) 721-3801. 

 

Respectfully, 

 

 

 

 

 

Ur M. Jaddou 

Director 
 




